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SENATOR DEAN FLOREZ:  …call the Senate Select Committee on Air Quality in the Central Valley to order.


As you know, today's topic is pursuing an Agreement to Reduce Railroad Pollution Emissions in the Central Valley.  I want to thank everyone for being here today and I would particularly like to thank Senator Boxer.  I know that she'll be joining us shortly for being here and for helping us clean the air in the Central Valley.  We could not do this without her participation at the federal level, particularly as we talk about railroads, and so I'm very much thankful that she would participate in today's hearing in Sacramento.


I would also like to thank the panelists who are here today.  I know many of you have traveled some great distances to be here.  And as you are aware, Senator Burton created this committee in February to take information and to come up with recommendations on how to address the air quality issues in the Central Valley.  And to just make some short notes on air quality in the Central Valley for those of you who are not aware of it -- I'm sure most of you are in the Central Valley -- we are now exceeding Los Angeles in terms of more exceedence days, in terms of the federal eight-hour standard, in terms of the cities located in the Central Valley of the five dirtiest cities in America.  We've got three of them in the area that I represent in the Central Valley which is Fresno at number two, Bakersfield at number three, and Visalia at number four, sandwiched by Los Angeles at number one and Houston at number five so we do have a very significant air quality issue in the Central Valley.  As has been noted, the asthma rate for many of our children are three times the national average and Fresno County, as many of you know, has the highest asthma rate in the state where one in six kids carry an inhaler to school every day.


As you probably know, the goal of the hearings and the goal of this committee is we have legislation that is currently pending and most of it in the Assembly Appropriations Committee.  Most of that is focused on the issues of agriculture and pollution, but I will tell you that we are trying to leave no stone unturned.  Much of that legislation, as you probably know, expands the ability, the air district, to get at some sources, particularly mobile sources that we haven't been able to achieve.  Today's hearing is an important part of this as well because we will be focusing in on railroad emissions which I think sometimes we don't focus enough on, particularly in the Central Valley.


Let me also say, as you might know, this is the ninth of 14 hearings that we've had in the time that we've been in existence since February.  We've talked about federal compliance issues.  Those of you know that the valley stands to lose over $2 billion of federal highway and transportation funds if we do not comply with the federal Clean Air Act.  The goal of this committee is to make sure that we do, particularly on the agricultural side, and we also have talked about certain types of pollution, whether it be a dairy, agriculture, trucks, vehicle emissions, and, of course, the specific health issues such as asthma and respiratory illnesses.  We've had a hearing on Sacramento as well.


Today we're going to be talking again about railroads in the Central Valley particularly.  We do know that we can reduce emissions from railroads in the valley by over seven tons a day by 2010 if we focus our attention on that, and we know that in terms of the total reductions that we actually have the ability to make some very significant changes, indeed, if we can focus in on producing an MOU with the Central Valley that has done, I think, at least a glance, some good in the South Coast Air Quality District.


Four points that we'll be talking about today, we're going to be gathering information on the effect of railroad emissions on the Central Valley.  We're going to take a close look at the MOU I mentioned earlier -- that's in place in the South Coast Air Basin -- and we're going to try to determine what needs to be done to secure a similar agreement from pollution in trains in the Central Valley.  Lastly, we're going to hear about some innovative and alternative technologies in the railroad industry and we will put all of this on record, and I will say that our transcripts will be available sometime within the next two weeks so you can look towards our Web site for a transcript of this.


Today we will be hearing from representatives from local, state, and federal air quality agencies, Burling, Northern, and Santa Fe, Union Pacific Railroads, and two companies in the South Coast, MOU.  Again, we'll be hearing from representatives who can talk to us about the future of railroad emissions in the future.


We will have a period, a brief period, for public comment after the hearing.  But as most of you know, if you've been at any my hearings, I try to move the agenda along as quickly as possible.  I do have specific questions for folks.  So if you have a presentation, I always appreciate it but I do have specific questions that I'd like to get on the record so we can move forward in terms of cleaning our air.


With that, why don't we start with an overview, if we could, on Railroad Emissions and Central Valley Air Quality from Catherine Witherspoon.  Thank you for being here from the Air Resources Board.


I will say, as Senator Boxer does come in, we want to accommodate her time and we'll ask her -- we might pause for a moment and ask her to make a statement and then we can proceed.


Thank you, Catherine, for being here.


MS. CATHERINE WITHERSPOON:  Is this on?  It is. 


Well, good afternoon, Senator Florez, and thank you for the opportunity to address you on this important subject.  Thank you also for all the incredibly important work you're doing to accelerate air pollution control in the Central Valley.


I'm going to revisit some of the basic facts about air pollution in the valley.  These are the number of days over the state, ambient air quality standards for ozone and particulate.  This is the annual toll of health impacts in the valley, represented in terms of the kinds of health effects -- lost work days, et cetera -- and then we can take that to the next level with the costs of all those effects and then to attain the federal ozone standard which I'm going to talk about more narrowly.  The valley needs to achieve an additional reduction of approximately 30 percent of smog-burning emissions that's nitrogen oxides and hydrocarbons.  It's going to take all feasible cost-effective measures to do that and all sectors are going to have to do their part.


Railroads in the San Joaquin Valley are a major pollution source.  They represent 3 percent of all of the VOC and NOx; 29.5 tons per day is our current estimate.  I've broken down the NOx into more detail because it will bear on discussions later, the percent that's line haul, short-line, switching, et cetera.  Those figures were for the San Joaquin Valley.  They vary around the state.  We're also working to refine them.

To put those contributions into perspective for NOx, here's how the major top sources fall out.  Now what can we do about emissions from the heavy diesel engines used in locomotives?  There are four basic strategies.  One is to switch to cleaner fuels, be that cleaner forms of diesel or an alternative fuel, such as natural gas.  There are strategies to limit idling, which is both operational controls and technologies that help you do that.  The introduction of clean technologies, cleaner, better locomotives, and advanced technology, switching -- switchers, hybrids, et cetera -- and then retrofits.  This is more in its infancy than any of the others I've just described.

We have research underway with the rail industry on the particulate filters.  There is work in other diesel categories on selective catalytic NOx reduction.  We don't have research currently underway for locomotives but some of what we're learning in other sectors may be transferable.

The South Coast MOU, which is providing a model for the San Joaquin Valley discussion, I wanted to be sure you understand what that Memorandum of Understanding is.  It is an agreement between the Air Resources Board to rail companies and the USEPA, a voluntary agreement to achieve a 67 percent overall reduction in fleet-wide average emissions which corresponds to roughly 50 percent reduction in actual emissions from the whole category.  It's enforced with monetary penalties that are significant; and should the railroads default on their commitments, the funds are surrendered and then used to do Carl Moyer-like programs to accomplish comparable emission reductions.  It applies to freight rail only.  Amtrak and other passenger rails are not included and those are categories that may ultimately need our attention.  The guts of the thing, it relies on accelerated fleet turnover to the cleaner engines that I spoke a moment ago.

The use of cleaner fuels is credited in the MOU.  It's not required by the MOU and ______ strategies are part of it.  Retrofits aren't currently required.  But depending on the outcome of our research, the rail industry may choose to use them as they work through their fleet-wide average requirement.

What's going on at the federal level..

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Can I ask you just a few questions?  I've got some other questions.  But in terms of the accelerated-fleet turnover, accelerated would mean -- are there timetables within this or is this just a natural and pollutionary life of an engine?  Does it just kind of not run any more; therefore, we get…

MS. WITHERSPOON:  The natural…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Or is this a true, accelerated, meaning, if it's running well or not, we're going to ask you to put in a cleaner…

MS. WITHERSPOON:  It's truly accelerated.  What we're doing in the South Coast is we're pulling to it all the available clean engines in the country at the moment, the two hours ?? of purchasing all the engines that are available and dedicating them to those regions, concentrating them in Barstow and Colton, so the s-locomotives ?? arrive from more distant points.  They are held at the switching yards.  They are changed to the cleaner engine.  They complete their run into the South Coast with cleaner engines.  And likewise on the way out, the clean engine draws it out, it's switched at those yards, and then the dirtier, older engines complete the rest of the trip.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you.

MS. WITHERSPOON:  Where those engines are coming from is previous federal action, Tier 0, Tier I, and Tier II locomotive standards that are gradually moving us from today's engine, which is about 17 grams for break horse power of NOx, and the cleanest new engine is 5.5.  So that's what they're bringing to the South Coast.  And the figure I've given you here -- the turnover is going on elsewhere in the state and we've estimated the benefits in the San Joaquin Valley of about 7.5 tons of NOx per day.

You're going to hear some testimony in a moment from the rail industry that they are running ahead of sort of the fleet-wide average turnover and the cleaner engines are coming to the valley.  So this estimate from the Air Board might be a little bit low but we're continuing to work with them on inventory reconciliation.

EPA also has a pending non-road diesel rule that, in the case of locomotives, will affect what fuel locomotives will run on and they're seeking comment about the fuel standard for locomotives and the timing of those standards, and they have indicated that they will propose standards next year in the spring for effect in the 2013, 2014 timeframe of a yet more stringent, new engine standard and the fuel to go with it.  That new standard would be about 85, 90 percent, more stringent than the 5.5 engines we have today, ideally.

So I want to elaborate a bit on this low-sulfur fuel question.  We've testified in the EPA proceeding that they should accelerate the introduction of low-sulfur fuel for all off-road categories, including locomotive, and this was a remark I particularly wanted to bring to Senator Boxer's attention when she arrives because I believe she can help us in this quest.

Here's the way the standards are today.  You can see there's a great discrepancy between California and federal average fuel.  Those are the sulfur contents.  We've already adopted an off-road standard in 15 parts per million in '06.  EPA's proposed to go to 500 in '06, '07.  In 2010 -- and this is the proposal they're seeking comment on -- they would go to 15 parts per million for most off-road categories but not locomotive.  Locomotive would remain at 500.  And then when they do their Tier IV engine standards, they would bring the fuel in alignment with those standards but we'd like them to do it sooner.

The difference that that makes, California consumes 115 million gallons annually of diesel fuel in locomotives.  The way that breaks out is 12 million gallons of carb diesel, 72 million, or EPA's current on-road diesel, and 28 million gallons are the worst of the worst, the very high sulfur content, federal fuel, which legally they may use and nothing can be done to prevent that use unless the national standard itself is much more stringent.

Our activities, we have begun a series of meetings with the rail industry about the needs of the San Joaquin Valley.  We have exchanged data and white papers.  We've explained to them that the San Joaquin Valley is very much like the South Coast bordering on an extreme classification, equally severe air episodes and the same needs for their participation.  But what we have learned in return is that it's not like the South Coast in the placement of the rail lines and the switching yards and the possibilities that the rail industry has.  So it's unlikely that we're going to have a one-for-one correlation of translating the South Coast MOU to the San Joaquin Valley context.  So what we're working on is what is the best possible plan for the San Joaquin Valley.

We're also in the middle of SIP ?? development for South Coast and the San Joaquin Valley.  We will capture these decisions and agreements in the final plans.  I have indicated we are testing PM filters on locomotives.  We've done the first round of tests already, what the baseline emissions and the oil consumption, so we need to know how much particulates are coming out before we can size a particulate filter to fit on that will consume all that particulate and that next round of testing will be completed by spring of next year.

We have a separate project going on that has to do with toxic risk and the concentration of engines and single locations.  That's a Roseville yard analysis where we found very high cancer risks, and we're working on mitigation strategies to bring those down.  So along with our ozone needs, we have toxic control needs that address locomotives.  Take away messages, we need 15 PPM sulfur diesel nationwide by 2010 for all off-road categories, including locomotives, and that rulemaking is pending, and anyone who's willing to help us press EPA ?? on that point, that assistance would be much appreciated.

We also need stringent after-treatment-based standards.  These are the ones that assume filters will work and require that they be used.  EPA says they will issue that proposal next spring.  We want to stay on them and make sure that occurs and is the best possible rule that the could propose.  And as they indicated, we are working with the railroad industry to define in others, to define what the right plan for the San Joaquin Valley is and what the constituent parts of it will be.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  I pulled the two slides that we needed to talk to Senator Boxer about so I might have you come back or we might, if she does come at this point in time, get back to that.

A couple of questions, in terms of the slide presentation, the 81 percent of emissions from line-haul trains, are those, the 81 percent, are all those captured emissions from BNSF and from Union Pacific or are there other types of…

MS. WITHERSPOON:  That's all line haul operating through the Central Valley.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And all of those are from BNSF and Union Pacific of the 81 percent?

MS. WITHERSPOON:  Yes.  I believe so.  There is not a line-haul company operating through the, unless there's other line-haul companies operating on their tracks.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  I'm just trying to build a record here.  So if, for some reason, that isn't the case, can you get back to us on that?

MS. WITHERSPOON:  Certainly.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.

MS. WITHERSPOON:  I'm going ask…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  You're welcome to clarify, if that's the case.

Now in terms of the passenger and cars, are they included in this graph at all in terms of railroads produce more pollution than small, passenger cars combined?  I'm looking at the chart where you made a comparison.

MS. WITHERSPOON:  On the next bar chart, we have pickups, SUVs, and minivans combined for 32 tons per day of NOx with locomotives being 28 tons.  So if you were to disaggregate that, locomotives would be greater than any single category of vehicle.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  That's what I mean.  So railroads are larger if you were to disaggregate the cars.  Okay.  And that would include SUVs and minivans; is that correct?

MS. WITHERSPOON:  Correct.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Now one of the emission reduction strategies you mentioned had to do with clean-burning fuel.  Maybe we can talk about:  Are railroads in California required to use CARB fuel like other diesel trucks?  I think that gets back to the sulfur question, and I’m glad Senator Boxer's here because we were just on point.

Senator, thank you.  Thank you for joining us today.

SENATOR BARBARA BOXER:  Thank you for including me.  I'm just delighted to be here.

Senator, do you want me to proceed with my remarks?

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Absolutely, Senator.  We know you're on a time constraint.  We very much appreciate you showing up.

SENATOR BOXER:  Hi, everybody.

I want to thank you so much for convening this important hearing and for tackling the tough issues that affect people of the San Joaquin Valley, people we both represent.

Working together at the local, state, and federal levels, I think we've made significant progress in reducing air pollution in our state; yet, we can and we must do more to give the valley cleaner, healthier air and no one has been a stronger supporter of that than you, Senator.

Everyone knows the challenges that we face.  Three out of the nation's four most ozone-polluted cities are in the Central Valley.  From '97 through the year 2000, every county in the valley received an F grade from the American Lung Association, for the high number of dangerous smog days.  The air quality problems in the valley are a major health crisis with disproportionately high rates of premature death, asthma, lost school days, increased healthcare costs, and a heavier burden on low-income communities with little access to healthcare.  So, Senator, in many ways, this is an environmental justice issue for us.


Asthma is now the leading cause of hospital admissions of young children in California.  And when I go around the schools today, I will ask a very simple question.  How many of you have asthma; how many of you know someone with asthma?  And literally 75 percent of the children raise their hands.  So this isn't some problem that is, you know, theoretical.  This is happening to our people and it is our highest order of business to improve their health.


A recent study indicates that elevated levels of ozone not only exacerbate but may actually cause asthma in children who are active outdoors.  So we tell our kids to be active, to get outdoors and play, and what is happening to them?


In Fresno, the rate of childhood asthma is 16.4 percent, more than triple, triple, the national rate.  Air quality challenges will increase as the valley continues to grow when we know it's a high-growth area.  The population has increased nearly 25 percent.  In the last ten years, it's expected to increase 50 percent in the next 20 years.  So we are looking at a problem that could become a crisis and that's why I commend you so much for your leadership.  And because of your contacting me, we have teamed up together and we are urging Burlington Northern Santa Fe Company and Union Pacific Railroad Company to agree to a limit on railroad fleet admissions in the San Joaquin Valley and we compliment them for agreeing to do this in the South Coast Air Basin in 1998.


Studies show that trains emit 30 tons of smog-making pollutants every day or 3 percent of all such air pollution.  The intent now, as it was in '98, is to accelerate the introduction of cleaner locomotives.


The MOU with the South Coast Air Quality Management District includes a requirement that by the year 2010, railroads operate a locomotive fleet in the South Coast that emits no more than EPA's NOx emission standards for locomotive engines built in 2005 or later.  In other words, we want these retrofitted.  We want to make sure that the best available technology is used to clean up our air.  The people of the Central Valley deserve no less from us.


Currently the San Joaquin Valley Air Pollution Control District is trying to reduce railroad emissions by providing incentives for locomotives to replace older engines or purchase new engines with cleaner burning fuel, such as natural gas, electricity, or clean diesel.  But the life of these engines is long, more than 35 years.  And old engines are typically remanufactured every four to eight years.  So we can't wait that long to get polluting engines off the rails.


State and local governments cannot regulate train emissions.  They're regulated exclusively by the federal Environmental Protection Agency, and that is why our partnership is so important, sir.  Unfortunately, EPA does not regulate these emissions as stringently as it does other mobile-source emissions.  Moreover EPA's regulations did not take effect until 2000 and will not see the benefits for years.  That is why I am so pleased to see the railroad stepping up to help improve California's air quality.  And if they do that, I will honor them and I know you will join me in that, and it will be a great example of corporate responsibility for our children.


I will ask unanimous consent to place the remainder of my statement into the record because what I do is I go through the other fights that were involved and now at the federal level.  There are many things that we can do for cleaner air and I am trying to do them.  We want to make sure that the Clean Air Act, New Source Review Program, is not gutted.  Unfortunately, there is an effort to gut it, which is very dangerous.  We see fights going on continually in the United States Senate and in the House and with the Administration over the whole notion that clean air should be something that we give to our people.  It should be a responsibility that we have.  It is not a luxury; it is a necessity.  It is a necessity for economic growth; it is a necessity for our people's health; it is a necessity for our children to grow into healthy adults and have a long life span and a healthy work life because, I'll tell you, it's pretty basic.  If you can't breathe, you can't work.  So if we care about this economy, and there is some in Washington who believe the way to help it is to give tax breaks to those at the top.  I don't share that.  I want to give tax breaks to the middle class.  But one thing I know we have to do for our economy is to make sure people breathe clean air and they drink healthy water and all those things that are becoming more and more important.


So again, thank you, Senator Florez, for holding this hearing, for teaming up with me, for suggesting that I work with you on this very important issue with the railroads and beyond that and I will be delighted to answer any questions you might have.  I do have a pressing schedule but, believe me, as you know, I made time for this because I want to be your partner in this until we've achieved success.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Senator, let me say thank you, number one.  You've been to Fresno and you’ve seen what we're going through.  Number one, I want to say we very much appreciate that.  The issue of air quality has only, just recently, because of the attention put forth, particularly by the news media and the Fresno Bee, specifically on the changes at the state level we needed to make -- as you know, we've been exempt many, many years because of state laws in terms of it.


SENATOR BOXER:  Right.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  We're changing that in this session.  But I think that the goal of having you involved in this partnership is, we need your help with our railroads and absolutely very much appreciate you bringing your passion to this issue of environmental justice.  So when you said that, you used that word, corporate responsibility.  It made me feel as though in the Central Valley we actually have a true friend in Washington and I wanted to thank you for that very much.


SENATOR BOXER:  Thank you.  And it is indeed an honor to work on an issue like this which is truly a bipartisan issue.  As you know, the Mayor of Fresno, a Republican, and I have worked very closely on this.  I think we need to expand that bipartisanship in an era when there's so much fighting and so much destructive partisanship.



Bottom line is, we represent the same people.  We want them to be healthy; we want them to thrive; we want them to have good working careers; and we want the railroads to make a contribution and be respected and honored for that contribution.  So we'll see this one through and I have really good feelings about it because we see what has happened in the South Coast.  We should be able to replicate that.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Absolutely.


SENATOR BOXER:  So thank you so very much.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Senator in the next two minutes, and Catherine, if we could, give the Senator in a nutshell the important slide portion in terms of the issues on low sulfur fuel.  I'd like to have her be able to take that back to Washington and we can start to work on that at that level, and maybe you can give us the issue again.


MS. WITHERSPOON:  The issue is, that at the federal level, there are two actions pending that affect our ability to reduce locomotive emissions.  One is a pending rule for non-road diesel that is underway today where EPA has proposed in 2010 to bring off-road sources, except locomotive, down to 15 part per million sulfur and for that locomotive category to leave the standard at 500 part per million.  We have urged them to make 15 PPM apply to all categories, that there's no reason for delay.


The second piece is that EPA has proposed next year to issue what they call an imprint ?? advanced notice for proposed rulemaking to propose more stringent engine standards, Tier IV -- excuse me -- Tier III and Tier IV which would go beyond Tier II which is 5.5 grants for rake-horse ?? power hour ??, bring that down by 80 to 90 percent.  We need to be sure they actually issue that proposed rulemaking and they bring that to conclusion.


SENATOR BOXER:  Let me say that what I'd like to do is work with your staff, Senator, and our staffs to get together.  I would like to send a letter to the EPA laying these messages out to them and working with your staff to give the points that are necessary for them to be able to do what we want, and we're working with them on other issues for chlorate ?? and other things and they've been helpful to us so I want to keep this going.


What I think is, if we do this, and I can say this came about as a result of this hearing, then I can have a meeting and maybe you can come back or staff could come back.  We can meet with EPA because I don't get why it would be that in this one area we have to wait so long before we make progress.  I mean it's adversely impacting our people.  But again, I think, if the railroads can step forward here, it will help me so much because I can make the case through to the administration that this is doable and that the railroads themselves want to help us so I'm hoping we can do this in a voluntary way but then make the case that the law reflect the fact that we can make these changes, that these are doable technologies right now.


Again, thank you for your leadership.  Let's keep in close touch on this and we'll celebrate when we have some victories to celebrate.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And we will get our staff together and take care of that, Senator Boxer.


SENATOR BOXER:  Excellent.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And thank you for joining us.


SENATOR BOXER:  Thank you so much.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  I appreciate it very much.


SENATOR BOXER:  Have a good rest of the hearing.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  We will.


Catherine, let's go ahead and get back to the, I think we were talking about the CARB fuel.  I guess my question was:  Are railroads in California required to use CARB fuel like diesel trucks?


MS. WITHERSPOON:  No, they are not.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.


MS. WITHERSPOON:  The board just adopted last month the 15 part per million standard for all on-road and off-road categories except locomotive and marine, and we are coming back to the board in October with a status report on could we extend that regulation under state power to those categories.  We believe we have the legal authority to require it but very serious, practical limitations on enforcing it because it is so easy to fuel up out of state at other points on the coastline and bring dirtier fuel, its differential.  We'll see even more out-of-state fueling than we have.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And I guess this simple question then:  Would there be an air-quality benefit if we were to move to that standard, the CARB fuel standard, from your perspective?


MS. WITHERSPOON:  Yes, there would be.  There's a modest benefit from the fuel alone, but the most important thing that low-sulfur fuel does is sets up the possibility of using stringent after-treatment devices.  Without it, you cannot move to that next step.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  I guess you touched on it, but in terms of an A or B rule or legislation, do we have an idea of what it would entail to implement this?  Is this something legislatively we need to do?  Is it something the board does?


MS. WITHERSPOON:  It's something the board does.  We have the statutory authority at this point.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And in terms of the ARB issues, you've mentioned the SIP and some of the other things that we're preparing for, can we have a better working relationship than we currently have with our railroads, from your perspective, or are we really working closely together or how would you term it as compared to some of the other industries that we're currently working with?


MS. WITHERSPOON:  I would say it was my predecessor who negotiated the Memorandum of Understanding, but I think he would have said also that we had a good working relationship with the railroads and then we brought that to a successful conclusion.  There are parties, though, who think we should have gone farther and to the extent that the rail industry isn't willing to go from 67 percent control to 80 percent control or something of that nature, that that makes it more recalcitrant.  I think they don't know how to do it yet.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.


MS. WITHERSPOON:  But they certainly know that that's the need and the expectation in Southern California and we're educating them about the needs and the expectations in San Joaquin Valley.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Can you describe to us the railroad control assessment for the Central Valley?


MS. WITHERSPOON:  I'm not sure I understand your question.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Is there an assessment that's currently done now in terms of the railroad's impact?


MS. WITHERSPOON:  There's a few different things going on.  There's been an assessment of all source categories in the San Joaquin Valley and what it would take, sort of a brainstorming, to achieve the ozone standard by 2010, and we're now taking sort of that global analysis and converting it into the kind of thing that looks like a state implementation plan for the district and ARB adoption very late this year or early next  year.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Senator Denham, thank you for joining us.


If there's no further questions, if you could stick around.  I think you're going to come back in a little bit anyway.


MS. WITHERSPOON:  I will stick around.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Great.  Thank you.


MS. WITHERSPOON:  Thank you.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Let's move to the MOU for the Central Valley.  I'd like to talk specifically, if we could, from this panel.  We have Mark Boese, the Deputy Air Pollution Control Officer of San Joaquin Valley Air Pollution District; Catherine Witherspoon -- Catherine, you're there already -- Kerry Drake, Associate Director of EPA; and Frances Keeler, South Coast Air Quality Management District.  If you can come up.


I think the goal of this panel obviously is to hear about the railroad pollution issue and to really ask more about the prospects of a valley MOU on railroad emissions, to get your take on it, if you will.


First, given that, maybe we can start with Mark.  You can give us your take and then I obviously have some questions for you.


MR. MARK BOESE:  Thank you, Senator.


I would like to start off by thanking you for all the work and interest you have in air quality, your plethora of bills that are going to the legislature right now, we think, are really going to accelerate emission reductions in the San Joaquin Valley and I'd also like to thank this committee and your interest in air quality issues, particularly today as it relates to railroad issues.


I just have a brief statement.  Ms. Witherspoon, as always, has done an excellent job sort of outlining the problem.  She talked about the ozone problem that we have with regards to the one-hour standard.  It appears that the district, under its severe designation, is not going to meet the attainment deadline of 2005 and is probably going to voluntarily request a bump-up to extreme which would give us until 2010 to come into compliance and not only for the admission reductions that we can get under our authority but for the federal and state reductions that will come in that time period, we think, will give us a chance to meet that one-hour standard by then.


You also, yourself, outlined a problem that we're facing with the eight-hour standard; and the number of days over the last 18 years, I think, we've had plus 100 days every day where we're over that eight-hour standard.  We also have the PM-10 problem and the 2.5 problem that we're looking at and NOx reductions would help also along those lines as it is a precursor to those emissions.


Catherine also talked about the work we're doing on the ozone plan and the modeling that we've looked at.  It appears that we would need to reduce our emissions by approximately a third to meet that one-hour standard.  The district is thinking that we can get an additional 100 tons of overlooking to the state and the feds for the authority that they have to make reductions on those sources to help us achieve that 300-tons-per-day reductions.  We've basically said for a long time that the low-hanging fruit is gone but today we might have a chance to find an apple that's still hanging low.


In the PM-10 plan that we recently adopted, we outlined nine proposed NOx standards for additional reductions.  Looking at the proposed MOU that we're seeing here, and assuming that we would get similar reductions, as what has happened in the South Coast, this one strategy would equal eight of those nine rules that we're looking to adopt.  So our increments are/aren't ?? small any more.  There just isn’t much to be gained from the stationary source and the authority that we have.  Here, it looks like something that we can really make some big reductions.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  In terms of the perspective of the district railroads -- I mean the big issue, not a big issue, non-issue…


MR. BOESE:  A big issue, a big issue.  It accounts for about a little more than 5 percent of the NOx emissions in the San Joaquin Valley.  And again, if we look at what the normal turnover rate would give us, we are getting some reductions.  An accelerated rate would give us, again, huge reductions on the amount of 14 tons per day of NOx reductions.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And that's your turnover?  The turnover issue, is that…


MR. BOESE:  That would be the accelerated turnover.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And in terms of the percentage of pollutions, railroad's emissions is a bigger problem in San Joaquin or the South Coast?


MR. BOESE:  I don't know what percentage they are in the South Coast.  I would assume something similar but all I know is where they rank in our district, which is in the top ten sources of NOx emitters.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  But it is in our top ten; is that correct?  Okay.


Now in terms of the ability of you folks to monitor or regulate emissions  from railroads again, for the record…


MR. BOESE:  No authority.  That lies with the states and the feds.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And in terms of the reduction from the South Coast MOU, there were certain -- I know we're going talk to South Coast in a moment -- but there were certain targets, I assume, in their 2010 plan that assumed, I hope, through the MOU certain reductions.


Do we have those types of reductions built into our plan?


MR. BOESE:  No.  The only assumptions that we make for reductions would be just routine turnover as the fleet turns over what older engines going out of use and replacement.


Now we do have some question with regards to that, with the South Coast MOU.  Could in fact that MOU be hindering what's going on in the San Joaquin Valley because they're accelerating the introduction of new engines there, what happens in the San Joaquin Valley.  Will we still get the normal turnover rate, or are we getting some of the older engines out of the South Coast that then are being placed in the San Joaquin Valley?


SENATOR FLOREZ:  I think it was Ms. Witherspoon talked about maybe not a one-to-one-type correlation but this is different terrain, different types of issues we have in the Central Valley.  That's due to that; is that correct?  I mean we have different, we have more limited entry and exist points?  Is that…


MR. BOESE:  Well, I know we have two major ones, the one in Roseville and the one in Barstow.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Right.


MR. BOESE:  And I know the one in Barstow is the one that controls a lot of where the engines go in the South Coast and also what comes into the San Joaquin Valley from the southern end.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Do you believe that somehow an MOU in the Central Valley would dilute any sort of effectiveness from the MOU and South Coast, if we were to have one, I mean your perspective.


MR. BOESE:  You know, I really can't answer that.  I know that they would be moving forward with that agreement, whether they can take additional acceleration of engines into the valley on top of what they're doing in the South Coast.  We would certainly hope so.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Let's talk about maybe the Carl Moyer dollars.  Are those available for engine conversions for railroad?  Is that eligible, a railroad engine?  It is?  Okay.  And have we ever given any money from…


MR. BOESE:  Yes, we have.  We have done that on some local engines and some local railroads have…


SENATOR FLOREZ:  So that would be like short-line railroad folks, like San Joaquin short line and some of those folks?  But nothing for BNSF or Union Pacific?  Have they come to the board asking for Carl Moyer dollars or retrofits?


MR. BOESE:  No.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  They haven't?  Okay.  I guess we'll ask them about that in the next panel as well.


I guess the last question I would have is, in terms of the Air District's focus, again, on railroad emissions, specifically, and lacking the power to do very much on it, I think you heard Ms. Witherspoon talk about some of the changes at the larger board level, be it to regulation and non-legislation.


Do you have the same take on that?  Is this something we can do simply through regulation?  Is there something at the legislature, or do we have any role in this at all, other than Senator Boxer sitting here for a little bit?


MR. BOESE:  If we can get the feds behind what we're trying to do, it would be very helpful.  Then I think, just perceiving along the same lines as what has happened in the South Coast with the MOU coming to an agreement with the railroads and them recognizing the problem that we're facing and just trying for an accelerated conversion.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Accelerated conversion.  Okay.


Thank you very much.


Catherine, you want to…


MS. WITHERSPOON:  Well, I guess I want to comment on this question:  Is there anything the legislature can do, because I was answering it more narrowly, did we need specific statutory authority?  But your interest and simply the fact that you're holding this hearing, I think, is going to move the negotiations along and I would hope that you stay involved as we continue that dialog with the railroads on what the nature of the control plan in the valley will be.  It's very important.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Can we talk about, Catherine, since you're speaking a little bit, in terms of the MOU, and I know that you talked about the predecessor, but I guess I'm interested in how did this process even begin?  I mean just some historical context.  I mean how did we in essence get folks to the table to even talk about this agreement?  How did it…


MS. WITHERSPOON:  It grew out of the South Coast attainment planning process and with their identification of rail as a category that had to be controlled.  Whoever was to do it, it had to be controlled.  And some pessimism about how rapidly federal rules would step in -- it wasn't going to reach the target.  The district had identified a control target of 80 percent reductions.


The Air Resources Board, the districts have already shared with you they have no power themselves.  The Air Resources Board is pre-empted from regulating new engines and railroad engines staying new for a very long time because rebuilds are still deemed new.  So only the federal government can say, at the point of rebuild, what the standard needs to be.


We have the ability, we believe, to order retrofits.  Retrofit devices don't exist yet.  We have the authority to compel the use of cleaner fuel, but those regulations can be evaded through willful fuel-ups out of state.  So it really came down to -- it was impossible to accomplish significant reductions without the willing participation of the rail industry itself.


They came to the table because they understood the needs of the South Coast and I’m sure they'll tell you they saw their own customers being regulated to the nth degree.  They felt it was their duty also to step up and do what they could do, and then there was a very lengthy negotiation process to hammer out the content of the MOU. And at the end of the day, it was decided that 67 percent control was very ambitious and that was the final agreement.


Now it's been teed up to them by the South Coast that we're once again in a planning cycle, once again short.  The ultimate goal, could they do more?  And so the rail industry's aware of those concerns and has been talking to elected officials in Southern California about what they're doing so far and what more could conceivably be done.  And then we opened up on the San Joaquin Valley with them and said the whole great Central Valley, not just San Joaquin but all the way through Sacramento, needs similar emission reductions from you and how can we accomplish them?  And we’re now into the very detailed assessment of where the tracks are, where the switching yards are, how freight flows through the valley, where its possible to stop it and change engines or not, and that sort of thing.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And in terms of the agreement that was brought forward, was the South Coast part of that?


MS. WITHERSPOON:  No, they were not.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And I guess that would be the question:  Why weren't they?  I mean there's an MOU for them and why wouldn’t they not be a party to an MOU?


MS. WITHERSPOON:  The rail industry refused to negotiate a South Coast was at the table.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And the reason that the rail industry…


MS. WITHERSPOON:  Well, I'll let them speak for themselves but I think they felt…


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Give me your take on it.


MS. WITHERSPOON:  …that we would not reach agreement at the end of the day, that the district would not hear their concern that 80 percent control was too high; they can only get to 67 at the time that agreement was struck.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  But you folks were at the table.


MS. WITHERSPOON:  We were at the table.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  So are you seen as somewhat less lenient?  I mean it seems like you're pushing the boards to do stuff that they can't seem to sometimes -- I mean you're really pushing the boards.  I know that.  But I would think that I would want the board there versus the ARB.


Why were you there and not South Coast?


MS. WITHERSPOON:  To the extent any authority exists at all to regulate, we hold it.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  I see.  So it's also recognition of maybe South Coast doesn't have any authority in this from the railroad's perspective and you do?


MS. WITHERSPOON:  We do.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  So you're the legal entity to deal with?


MS. WITHERSPOON:  That's correct.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And in terms of the South Coast Air District having any authority on pollution from trains, do they not have any, much like Mark was mentioning, other than through the MOU or is this…


MS. WITHERSPOON:  I believe they'd no authority to impose controls.  They do have the authority to regulate fuel quality in the basin.  But just as our rules could be evaded on fuel quality, theirs would certainly be difficult to enforce.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And in terms of the information you provided us, I mean those are through communications with railroads.  I mean there's a reporting process, I assume, correct?


MS. WITHERSPOON:  That's correct.  Starting in April of this year and every year thereafter, the railroads must report to us on their progress in reducing fleet-wide average emissions.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And do they report to South Coast at all?


MS. WITHERSPOON:  I don't think that's a condition of the MOU and I don't know if we have a provision for sharing the reports we receive or if they're deemed confidential but I can check on that.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  I'd like to know.  I'm just wondering why South Coast.  I mean I understand then one point; you're not _____ the meeting on the MOU that you live by; but at the same point, there's no reporting going on and the board isn't even part and parcel of the reporting requirements.


Is that because of confidentiality issues or…


MS. WITHERSPOON:  I just don't know the answer to the question.  I have the MOU here with me and I'll look at it when I go sit in the audience so I can find it.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  The reason I'm asking some of these questions is that, as Senator Boxer says, if we can somehow replicate an MOU for the Central Valley, I would like to see and have the railroads come up and tell us what are some of the things that we would like to see different and done different.  I would probably want our board to be involved in negotiations.  I would probably want our board to get reports.  I would probably want our board to do a lot more than when this was evolved.  I know a lot of that stems from our railroads having some issues.  I'd like to hear about those issues so we can try to work some of those out in the future.


Another question, in terms of the Air Resources Board, you go through a rulemaking process


Has there been any rules specifically for railroads in this process?  I mean have we gone through that?


MS. WITHERSPOON:  No, there have not.  What was on the table at the time that the negotiations were initiated were proposals by the Air Resources Board to attempt to regulate and there is a clause in the MOU that allows it to be terminated if we switch to a regulatory posture instead of the voluntary agreement we have today, so we can attempt at any time to take that path but it would void the agreement, potentially void the agreement that we have.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Can one infer that maybe what you're saying is that the only way to really get air reductions from railroads is through the MOU process at this point?


MS. WITHERSPOON:  Or through federal regulations.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Clean Air Act.


MS. WITHERSPOON:  The feds are holding more of the cards.  They regulate the new engines and the fuel.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Do you feel that you're specifically prohibited by the Clean Air Act to do anything other than the MOU?  Let me rephrase that.


MS. WITHERSPOON:  No.  Not in any way.  We are pre-empted from regulating new engines in the Act but we're not prohibited from attempting retrofit controls or fuel controls.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  In terms of the reporting requirements, looking at the MOU, have you seen any lower emitting engines being introduced in South Coast, given the information you have now?  Has this begun, this process begun…


MS. WITHERSPOON:  Yes.  The process has begun.  In fact, the two railroads, it's my understanding that they are consuming all of the available clean engines at the moment for 2000, 2001, 2002, and through '03 to meet the targets of the MOU.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Not just a long answer, if you can, but in terms of the documentation and the demonstration that they are doing this, how do you know that?  What's the process?


MS. WITHERSPOON:  They share their purchasing plans with us.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  So they're sharing their purchasing with you folks.  Okay.


Can you give us an update then?  How many engines have been introduced since that time?


MS. WITHERSPOON:  I'd have to check and get back to you on that.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  You can get back to us on that so we have it for the record.  Okay.  And in terms of the existing MOU for South Coast, my reading shows there's a provision that allows for the modification of the MOU if all parties agree.  I guess, have you thought about modifying it to include South Coast now or similar districts like the Central Valley that may want to participate, if you will?  Is there a re-negotiation, if you will, now to include South Coast or is this just set in stone that was the MOU and that's the way it goes?


MS. WITHERSPOON:  Well, I didn’t frame the question that way.  The re-negotiation, as I read the clause, means revisiting the target for South Coast.  I think it would be a separate MOU for the valley describing the conditions a few times there.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  So not a one to one?


MS. WITHERSPOON:  But there's probably overlap in terms of what's going on, what the rail industry is actually doing to meet both ends and that they'd be reporting in a similar fashion.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Would you say, that given your experience in the South Coast that an MOU would have significant air quality benefits for the Central Valley if we were to produce an MOU?


MS. WITHERSPOON:  Well, an MOU is the mechanism that embraces what it is they decided to do so it's the content that matters, what they're actually going to do.  And also, the target that we're able to agree to as their fleet-wide average reduction -- what will that be, how will we achieve it?


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Would you say that…


MS. WITHERSPOON:  I don't know yet if we can achieve the same 67 percent control that they agreed to in the South Coast.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Okay.  But part and parcel of that would be to have the board, would the board be better suited to help work those issues through or are they going to be separated from this?


MS. WITHERSPOON:  You mean the district board?


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Yes.


MS. WITHERSPOON:  Well, they've already made clear in their letter to the committee and to us that they want the same outcome; they want 67 percent or better.  I'm sure that their ears, listening to the information provided by the rail industry, is helpful to assessing if you believe them or not, if there's actual constraints or not in arriving at the final plan.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  You mentioned or we have information about a meeting last October where there was discussion about a San Joaquin Valley MOU.


Was there some discussion in the October meeting, just in general?


Mark?


MR. BOESE:  Yes, Senator.  I think that was just in our planning stages for PM-10 and some of the discussions that we had with ARB and EPA and we were discussing all of the things __________.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  I'm wondering then, given that discussion, has there been any progress at ARB in terms of that being part and parcel of a larger discussion?  I mean has there been any focus from ARB?


MR. BOESE:  Oh, yes.  We've had two meetings since then directly with the rail industry in June and in July and we have a third meeting scheduled in September to talk about specifically the San Joaquin Valley.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And in terms of the budget that was just passed -- obviously the governor, there were significant cuts to your Air Resources Board.  I guess my question would be:  Given that, is there still some sort of dedicated workforce that remains that will look at this MOU and South Coast and also possibly for Central Valley?  We have enough resources now?


MS. WITHERSPOON:  Yes, we do.  What we've done is maintained our core programs of regulation enforcement of public health protection and so those resources are also there.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And the other issue I would have is that ARB included short-line railroads in their MOU or they didn’t?


MS. WITHERSPOON:  We did but what we have is a fleet-wide average approach.  So it's the combination of measures the railroads themselves choose to undertake, and what they have told us is that they have more flexibility to do the short haul, to do the switchers.  It’s the line haul that's difficult.  But as you saw from the chart I showed you, line haul is where 81 percent of the emissions are coming from.  So we're grateful that they can do the first two categories, but we have to crack the nut ?? of line haul as well or we won’t get to where we need to go.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Gotcha.  If we can go back to the issue of reporting, there was a response to this committee that we got, that the railroads were required to submit their initial plans of compliance with the MOU to the Air Resources Board in April 2003, which they did, and I guess my question would be:  Have you received Union Pacific's plan of compliance out of this date?


MS. WITHERSPOON:  I believe that we have.  I believe that we have.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Is there a reason UP can only provide that to you?  They couldn't apply it, give to the Air District or give it to this committee.  Is there a confidentiality rationale for that?


MS. WITHERSPOON:  As I said a moment ago, I don't know the answer to that question but I'll find out and let you know.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  From your estimate, looking at it, was the plan complete?


MS. WITHERSPOON:  My recollection is that the plan -- what the plan requires us to do is to make a judgment whether they're on track, no pun intended, to achieving a fleet-wide average.  And if we have enough data to discern that, I think we're going to be refining the way they report to us over time.  This was the first one and so it's too early just to say they're not on track, but I think that we're ultimately going to want more detailed information from them to make that assessment.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And in terms of getting a plan from BNSF, you've gotten the same type of plan from them?


MS. WITHERSPOON:  I believe so.  I think we have, because I've seen our staff assessments of the quality of those plans and I don't recall offhand.  I would have heard if they were not submitted so I'm assuming they were both submitted.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And in terms of -- have you compared both of them?  They look somewhat similar or…


MS. WITHERSPOON:  I have not personally, no.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Let me hold some questions.  Maybe I'll send them to you but I think what I'm interested in is just kind of getting to how many clean engines does Union Pacific plan to purchase from a time period of 2002 to 2008, would be my first question.  I guess my question would be:  Did they submit the data for the engines they bought?  You mentioned purchase orders or something of this sort.  I mean how do we know?  How are we, you know, the railroads kept accountable to the data that they submit?  I mean how do we know that they're really doing the switch-outs, would be, is my own accountability type of question.  May be can get back to us on that.


MS. WITHERSPOON:  I'm be happy to.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  I'd like to see you compare those.


I think that's it for now.


Can we go to Ms. Drake, Kerry Drake?  Kerry Drake?  I'm sorry.  EPA.  I think -- well, maybe I want to do South Coast first -- well, let's do EPA first.


Do you have a statement or can I just ask some questions?


MR. KERRY DRAKE:  If you don't mind, I have a couple of things I wanted to say first.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Sure.  Go ahead.


MR. DRAKE:  First, thank you, Senator Florez, Senator Denham, Mr. Tackett.  Thank you for inviting us.  We think it's important for us to be at this particular table because I think that we realize that we're obviously part of the solution for these types of sources in the San Joaquin Valley and so that's why were here, is to support you in that effort, but to also acknowledge to you both and to the entire committee how important we think it is, what you're doing.  These hearings on Air Quality in the Central Valley are very important and we want to be as supportive as we can.


Wayne Astry ??, our regional administrator, you know, continues to believe that his top priority is air quality in the Central Valley, and he's the regional administrator for Arizona, Nevada, California, Hawaii, and the Pacific Islands, air waterways.  He continuously states that his top priority is air quality in the Central Valley.   So I just want to come to the table and say that we feel like this is very important, the federal government, the EPA.  We feel like this is very important.


With regard to railroads, there's already been a lot of discussion about the admission standards and the field standards that EPA either already has in place or is working to put in place.  We obviously acknowledge, when you're talking about a nationwide fleet that includes 19,000 locomotives, and we're responsible for nationwide rulemaking, it's hard to get those things turned around in as quick an order as some areas might need, like the San Joaquin Valley, like the South Coast.  However, having said that, it's obvious to us that accelerating where we can with whatever tools we have, whether that's an MOU or _____ reduction credits or any other number of other incentive-based processes that we can have the help accelerate the turnover of the fleets or to encourage the cleaner fuel, we're going to be at the table with the railroads, with ARB, with Mark in the Air District, with you and your staff, or whoever else to try help make that happen, and so I just wanted to give you that assurance.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you.


Can I just get through some questions for the record that we have an ongoing on this?


The EPA, the role, the EPA in regulating emissions for railroads, just what is that?


MR. DRAKE:  Well, first off, it is our statutory authority under the Clean Air Act to provide for admission standards for new railroad locomotives and those have to take into account the technology, the feasibility, commerce, the continuation of commerce, and other things and that's our statutory obligation under the federal Clean Air Act so we can first regulate new engines.  We've taken that step beyond, I think, and I think the act allows us to also require some requirements at rebuild and at retrofit that we haven't typically taken with other types of mobile sources.


So I just wanted to point out that our, I guess, regulation that we have for engine emission standards, for railroads, is it unusual in the aspect that it does take into account that these things last for years and years and that we've also include some rebuilt requirements and retrofit requirements as they go through.


Second, we do have the statutory authority to regulate the fuels that non-road sources use -- that on-road sources use -- and so that is in fact part of our statutory, I guess, authority has already been alluded to and I want to make sure I say this because I want to make sure the date gets out there.  Under the non-road emission and fuel rules that we proposed earlier this spring, the comment period on that is open until August 20 so that's an important date, I think, for folks that are wanting to comment that we should perhaps should include railroad emission fuel standards more quickly so that's the date that we have that open until and then again, I guess as already has been said, in April 2004, we'll be starting an advanced notice of public rulemaking on just the very issue that we're talking about:  Should railroad fuels also be regulated ______?


SENATOR FLOREZ:  In terms of the emission standards adopted by the  EPA in 1998, do we have any sense of how many trains actually meet those standards?


MR. DRAKE:  I don't but I can get back to you on that.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Yes.  If you can get back to the committee, that would be valuable.


MR. DRAKE:  While you go into South Coast, I'll look through my notes to make sure…


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Also, if we could break that down into how many in the valley as well, so I’m trying to kind of get a sense of how many actually meet the standard.


Now I guess my next question would be:  Do these standards apply to all railroads in California or is this just the majors and the short-liners are excluded or how does this work?


MR. DRAKE:  When EPA proposes its emission standards for railroads, my understanding is that every new railroad locomotive engine bought by the railroads based on the date that they buy it has to meet the standards in place on those dates.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And in terms of the railroads outside of the South Coast MOU, are there any guidelines or timetables for those operating outside the MOU process there for Tier II engines in terms of changeover on those types of issues?


MR. DRAKE:  I think the way it goes is the regulations apply increasingly stringent requirements beginning in 2001 and then culminating, I guess, quickly to the most stringent requirement in 2005.  So we're currently in that, I guess, that middle tier, I think, the Tier II, as I would call it, would come in place in 2005.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  In terms of the average life of locomotive engines, as you know, we have an ongoing running problem with a rolling exemption for vehicles or something of that sort in California.


Do we have such a thing in locomotives?  I mean these engines have 35 years' average life and I guess obviously many of them have been, probably put out worse emissions than the newer engines so I'm kind of wondering:  Do we have a handle and control in terms of how those switchouts are occurring and how often?


MR. DRAKE:  I don't know if I’m the best one to answer that.


MS. WITHERSPOON:  There is a comparable exemption.  Pre-1973 engines are not regulated by these new standards and we're just counting on them dying eventually.  We looked at the possibility of trying to regulate them, and I think for neither us or EPA it was cost-effective.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  As you mentioned, we're preempted from regulating locomotive engines, just for the record; and if the Air Board and the regional districts can't control railroad emissions, other than through some of the processes that we mentioned today, I guess my question will be to EPA then solely, you know:  What are we doing at the federal level to reduce these emissions specifically?  I mean are there national standards or things that we're doing that are in your control that we could be doing better or something coming down the pike we should be aware of?


MR. DRAKE:  Well, it struck me, first of all, as I was sort of considering the South Coast MOU, the date that it was crafted and the date that our engine emission standards came about, and it also struck me as Catherine was going through her presentation about the slice of emissions that the railroads have, I guess, in relation to automobiles, trucks, farm equipment -- you saw the kind of declining -- you know, I think that we perhaps probably all realized at the same time, if you will, that railroads needed to be controlled to some extent.  And it's one thing altogether to say, once you start manufacturing these clean engines, put the cleanest ones first in the South Coast and put the cleanest ones over there, but when you're talking about a national fleet, and that's what we have to regulate on, the EPA, when you're talking about a national fleet of 19,000 locomotives, you don't turn that around overnight.


So I guess the message I'm trying to deliver back, Senator, is that with the emission standards that we came out with in '98, with the fuel standards that we're going to be considering, that we're considering the comment on now and that we'll be considering again in 2004, we feel like we're moving out aggressively but we obviously also agree that it needs to be quicker for certain areas like South Coast and San Joaquin.  So what we've already started doing, besides our participation in the South Coast MOU, which has been noted for the record, we've already started our own conversations as well with the railroads in the San Joaquin Valley.  We're looking, even though it's just small first steps, we're already looking at dedicating some monies to pilot projects, for idling technology; we're looking to future money and funding from our Office of Transportation/Air Quality to see what other technologies that we can look at that would help us speed up the process.


So we're very open to the same thing like a South Coast MOU.  As Catherine said, it's the substance of that.  The MOU is just the mechanism.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  I've gotcha.


MR. DRAKE:  But those sorts of things, we're very much interested in and committed to doing.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Now in terms of the amount of money from EPA in terms of trying to reduce some of these captive engine fleets, do we allocate dollars for that and have we allocated dollars for that?


MR. DRAKE:  Usually, those sorts of things, I think, would come through, a line item through Congress.  EPA funds itself that it has for those sorts of activities are spread among all the 50 states and they're fairly limited to start with.  What we can typically do, and we try to leverage them as much as we can as to provide some pilot projects on technology that we think would prove to be useful.  Hopefully, they'll catch on.  I mean that's the sort of assistance that we typically can give financially.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  The reason I ask, I'm looking through the national standards there.  We talk about certain hotspots and there is an allocation of a small amount of money.  Its says $125,000 to reduce captive engine fleets and switching yards that remain in the Central Valley.  That's one pot.  And then the other hand, the EPA fact sheet on the national standards, in terms of the lifetime cost of a Conversion II, Tier II engine, is about 250,000.  I guess…


MR. DRAKE:  Per engine, you mean?


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Per engine.  So I'm wondering, the $125,000 that were committed, let's say to San Joaquin, doesn't even convert an engine.


MR. DRAKE:  What we typically do, Senator -- I'm sorry.  Ask your question.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  That's it.  What are we doing about that?  How do we…


MR. DRAKE:  First, I would say that's just the current funding that we have, to put in that direction, what we typically do in those situations, and we have done it in Chicago and in other areas where we take our very limited funding, because it typically is very limited, where we cost share with the railroads, even if it's changing out one engine.  It's to demonstrate the technology that could be used to reduce idling.  If that technology proves beneficial, then we can then take that and partner with whether the local air district may have more funds or whether the railroads -- or maybe they'd save money on fuel.  They don't burn as much fuel if the idling technology works.  Maybe they think it's a good idea and they say, well, we're just going to put it on ourselves.  Our role in those situations is typically to help prime the pump and get those sort of things demonstrated and that's pretty much what we are able to do.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, okay.  Now in terms of the fuel standards, we talked about fuel standards for railroads.


Are those finalized yet or when will they be finalized?


MR. DRAKE:  The fuel standards, there currently are no, I guess, fuel standards for railroads beyond what Catherine was talking about.  What we did when we promulgated or proposed -- excuse me -- our non-road engine rules in May, I believe, of this year, we specifically asked for comment on whether there should be fuel standards for railroads and for marine fleets.  That comment period is the one that closes August 20.


What we did state at the same time is that we committed to doing an advanced notice of public rulemaking in April of 2004 to start more formally considering fuel standards for both railroads and for marine fleets.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And how would you compare the regulation of railroad emissions to other mobile sources,  I mean, from your perspective?  Cars, trucks, railroads?  Are they regulated, more regulated?  How do we make that?


SENATOR DUNN:  It's sort of, I guess, a bit apples and oranges but I would say obviously it's starting a bit later.  Obviously there have been, you know, motor vehicle emission standards for a long time so it's obviously starting later.  But there are some unusual things, which I've already pointed out, which hopefully will help us catch up, and that is, the requirements that we have for rebuilt engines, for retrofitted engines.  It's not that I believe we're going to rely on new emission standards.


If somebody just bought an engine in 2000, that it would wait all the way until 2030 before they bought a new engine before emission standards would come in.  So it’s mixed bag, really, I think.  It started a bit later but we've got some unusual requirements in them that will help catch up, hopefully, sooner than the whole 30-year life span of an engine.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  I think you might have heard me ask Catherine talking about the October meeting, you know, that air agencies got together.  You were at that meeting?


MR. DRAKE:  No.  I was not personally at that meeting.  I think EPA may have been; is that right, Catherine?


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Was EPA there?


MR. DRAKE:  I believe so.


MS. WITHERSPOON:  Yes.  We think EPA was there.  It was a staff-level meeting between the three agencies.


MR. DRAKE:  Okay.  I guess my question would be:  Given that meeting, has EPA provided any sort of help in terms of whatever dollars, staff, resources, in terms of the discussion about the expansion of this MOU to the San Joaquin Central Valley?


MR. DRAKE:  I think that that's probably one of the direct results of the small pittance, if you will, of the $125,000 we have to dedicate to it.  That's probably where those sorts of ideas is coming from, is to try to get that process started and the meeting that we've also had with the railroads.  I think that those are probably things that came out of that sort of meeting.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Last question, does EPA have a position on railroad electrification projects or hybrid or electric locomotives?  I mean is there a position you have on that?


MR. DRAKE:  Well, we can't statutorily require it, but I think we are always supportive of those types of technologies, like hybrids, like electrification.  We don't have the statutory authority to require it, however.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you.


MR. DRAKE:  You're welcome.  Thank you, Senator.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  If you can get that information to us on the breakdown, that would be great.  I know you're going to look through your notes; but if you can, we'd appreciate it.  We would appreciate having it.


MR. DRAKE:  We certainly will.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Let's go to South Coast Air Quality Management District, Frances Keeler.


Thank you for joining us.  I don't know if you have a statement but I do have some questions.  It's really up to you.


MS. FRANCES KEELER:  Yes.  Good afternoon, Senator, and thank you for allowing us to participate in this very important forum.


South Coast Air Basin is home to 16 million people, roughly 42 percent of the state's population.  As in the San Joaquin Valley, our citizens also experience unhealthy air.  The district is non-attainment ?? for PM and ozone.  This year, we've already exceeded the federal standards for ozone, 44 days, with one first-stage smog alert and four near first-stage smog alerts.


We do not and we've not yet reached or peak ozone season so it's not promising.  We don't believe that locomotives are adequately controlled in the South Coast Basin.  Railroads contribute about 30 tons a day of NOx emissions today in 2003, and that amount is roughly equal to the total amount of our 350 largest NOx stationary sources in the basin and that includes our refineries and power plants.


As Ms. Witherspoon pointed out earlier, locomotives don't even use the low-sulfur fuel that is available on the market today.  Because locomotives are diesel fueled, they not only contribute to NOx, not only contribute NOx, emissions that are precursors to ozone and PM, but they also emit toxic air contaminants.  Locomotives are an expanding source in our area.


We don't believe the MOU goes far enough to reduce emissions from locomotives and we have four specific points.


The first is the lack of the AQMD and public involvement in the MOU process.  We think, in order for you to obtain a very balanced regulation, and we think regulations are the preferred way to obtain emission reductions, that you have to have input from all areas.  And when you cut out the district and you cut out the public, you are not getting the best regulation you can.  We also think, that with the growing concerns in the environmental justice, the public process is extremely important.


A second point is we don't believe that the MOU reaches adequate levels of control and this is where we differ with the parties that were involved in the MOU process.  When you look at the reductions that we're getting, and it did target 67 percent reductions, which is a sizeable amount -- we think it can go farther and we think that technologies can develop to push that even farther -- but this is an emissions rate standard. And what has happened already, we've seen this year when we were revising our AQMP, that we had a 2010 target after the MOU is in place of 12 tons a day emissions from railroads.  During the AQMP process, this was adjusted upward by six tons to 18 tons in 2010 just on activity levels alone.  So activity levels can seriously affect your attainment demonstration.


A third concern we have is with enforcement.  We believe that the agreement and any regulation should be federally enforceable.  We submit our regulations into our SIP/SEF ?? and then citizen suits can happen if it's not being enforced and the federal government can enforce it and we would like to see that happen here.


Finally, the timing of the MOU, we believe, is inadequate.  This is an important point when you are developing the MOU, is you want to make sure you get the reductions in time for you to help you meet your attainment goals.  They have a final attainment date of 2010 and there's no reporting on that until April of 2011.  With an attainment deadline of November 2010, we won't know if we even achieved that goal, our MOU goals, at that time.


That's it.  Thank you.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Let me go to the heart of the issue, and that is, the participation that you mentioned.


Railroads, as you've heard from some of our fellow panelists, refused to negotiate with you at the table.  I guess my questions would be:  Why is that?


MS. KEELER:  The real reason, of course -- well, we would have to ask the railroads -- but our belief is that the South Coast typically sits at the table and we take a very hard line.  We like to push technology as far as it can go and we want to get the maximum amount of reductions.  We have a serious air quality problem and we need to get those reductions and we think that that was uncomfortable for the airlines -- excuse me -- the railroads having them push that hard at the table.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Gotcha.  In terms of having you then renegotiated back into this, do you see that happening in terms of the change in this MOU, in terms of getting information reported to you, in terms of your input into this process?  Is there…


MS. KEELER:  We haven't had any indications of anything like that happening.  It would be very good if we could get the information that is purported in the MOU since we need to determine our strategies for our Air Quality Management plans.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And do you have any idea why ARB would move in the direction of a rule or policy -- well, let me put it this way:  Do you have any thought on why ARB would move to MOU versus a strict rule or policy?  Probably a better way to put that.


MS. KEELER:  Well, it's my understanding when this started out, ARB was in a rulemaking process, and I believe there was some discussion with the railroads of is this the right way to go.  I think it's a calculated decision on whether you would want to go with an MOU or a regulation and I can't say for sure why they would go but there are several reasons you can do that, and that is, you have less parties to deal with and it doesn't, you don't have a whole lot of outside issues clouding the direction in which you want to go.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  In terms of enforcing, making sure the MOU's enforceable, is it enforceable?  Is this an MOU that's enforceable?


MS. KEELER:  Well, the MOU technically has liquidated damages as the enforcement mechanism.  If they miss a deadline or they miss reporting deadlines or attainment, they will get hit with a damage amount.  Unfortunately, as I mentioned before, it is not enforceable by EPA or by citizen suits and it's not going to be subject to the kind of penalties that other industries would be subject to if they violated a rule.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  It’s not comparable to other industries' violation then?


MS. KEELER:  No.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Would that have been a negotiated point of view at the table in terms of that?


MS. KEELER:  That's hard to tell.  That is something we would seriously look at.  We are concerned that the penalties are deterrent factors.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Right.  So the railroad either pays the cost of retrofits --


MS. KEELER:  That's correct.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  -- and new engines that meets the EPA standards or they in effect pay for this, what you call liquidated damage.  Is that the balance for those folks?


MS. KEELER:  That's correct.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Do you have an idea what would possibly cost more?


MS. KEELER:  At this point, I don't.  There's a lot of factors that they would weigh at the time, business factors that they can weigh to determine whether it would be cheaper to retrofit or cheaper to just pay the penalty.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Right.  Okay.


Has the Air Board evaluated that or…


MS. WITHERSPOON:  Yes.  We spent months negotiating on liquidated damages provisions to ensure ourselves that they absolutely are not cheaper than complying, that they're more onerous, and that they enable us to ensure that, were we to be paid damages in lieu of compliance with the MOU, that we would be able to turn around and implement Carl Moyer-like programs to get the same emissions benefit.  But it was months of negotiation on exactly how to price that out.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  So that's $100,000 for every 40 tons per year?


MS. WITHERSPOON:  Um-hmm.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  So that's a maximum of $4 million.  And compared to other industries, that is…


MS. WITHERSPOON:  Well, what you want to do is ask the question:  What does it cost to accomplish the comparable emission reduction or what does it cost to comply?  Because the point is to have a deterrent effect; and if not deterrent, to have a remedy if you fall short, so it really doesn't equate to other industries.  There's a separate penalty structure for noncompliance with other air…


SENATOR FLOREZ:  I'm just wondering:  Is that, from your perspective, a significant deterrent effect of $4 million maximum per year?  The railroad guys are going, yeah, it is significant.  A dollar is significant.


MS. KEELER:  This is why it took months of negotiation.  They don’t have any interest in paying those penalties they wish to comply.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  I gotcha.  I'm just wondering.  I'm just trying to get some thought.


For South Coast again, in terms of the information received about compliance, you don't receive it.  Then how is it communicated to you whether or not we're meeting -- you don't receive from the railroads, I should say?


MS. KEELER:  We don't receive any information.  The railroads have been very recently, since we have started some legislation to inform us on how they are complying but they are not required to under the MOU and we would only get the information that they are willing to share with us.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  I've gotcha.


In terms of the consequences, if air quality through the MOU does not achieved its goal, what happens, from your perspective, if that doesn't occur?


MS. KEELER:  Well, if the MOU doesn't achieve its goal, probably that could be the straw that broke the camel's back.  We could have missed our attainment deadline or, if we find out early enough that it's not happening, since there are some studies that EPA and CARB will do early on, that it could result in this shifting the burden back to our stationary sources that are already heavily regulated or making up the reductions somewhere else.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Do you see any conflict that the San Joaquin Valley have an MOU in any sort of detrimental effect on South Coast?


MS. KEELER:  Well, we would hope that this wouldn’t result in them trying to back off on their commitments under the South Coast MOU and that they would continue to honor their commitment under our MOU and not shift any of those locomotives up to San Joaquin.  I can see it happen in both areas.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Good point.  In terms of the advice you may have for Mark or others if they were at the table -- well, I guess your advice would be, number one, be at the table.  But any advice that you can share with the committee in terms of, if there was a negotiation of an MOU, what ought to take place?


I know you mentioned four issues specifically at the start of your testimony but anything that you might provide the committee with, the Air District?


MS. KEELER:  You definitely want to make sure that San Joaquin stays involved in the process.  It's really important.  They need to weigh their AQMP and the goals constantly as they are considering what kind of reductions they need to get at the table and that that message is actually to all the parties that they would not allow for the district to be excluded.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you all.  I appreciate that.  Thank you.


Let's hear from the industry, if we could, Railroad Emissions.  We have Mark Stehly, Assistant Vice-President, Environmental and Hazardous Materials, Burlington Northern Santa Fee Railway; and Michael Iden, the General Director, Mechanical Department of Union Pacific Railroads; and anyone that you all feels comfortable, come on up to the table.


Thank you for joining us.  And Mr. Acosta and Horiginy ??, no introduction to me.  I know them so thank you guys for joining us as well.


UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  You've already introduced Mr. Stehly from Burlington Northern Santa Fee, our Vice-President?


SENATOR FLOREZ:  We have.  And thank you for traveling here, very much appreciate it.  We're supposed to be on legislative recess but we assumed that the budget would still be, still be doing it so here we stand.


UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  I wonder if I might, I want to introduce Tom Schlosser ?? who is a Director of the California Short-Line Railroad Association, in as much as the Short Line ______.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you for joining us, appreciate it.


Well, let's go ahead and I'll let you folks proceed but if we could start with Mark from BNSF.  And if you have a presentation, that's fine, or however you'd like to proceed, and then I have some questions as well.


MR. MARK STEHLY:  Yes, hi.  I'm Mark Stehly with Burlington Northern Santa Fe Railway.  I've got 30 years' experience in environmental matters for the railroad.  I worked for both Burlington Northern and then Santa Fe Railroads and then they merged.


What we'd like to do is combine a program.  I'll start out and Mike will finish up.  What sort of timeframe do you have in mind so we can meet that timeframe?


SENATOR FLOREZ:  You have about five minutes.  No, I’m kidding.  I mean I'll leave it to you but we'd obviously like to expedite this.  But, you know, we want to make sure you have your time at the table, absolutely.


MR. STEHLY:  But it won't be real long.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Sure.


MR. STEHLY:  First of all, U.S. locomotive flows ??, California is part of a rail network and origin/destination ports.  So locomotives or the trains flow from all over the United States which makes it very difficult to do a captive fleet because of where the trains move and the inefficiencies of having to change power to different places.


You can see here that in California, it's two major Class I railroads and Amtrak.  We do have a significant number of employees in California.  California is the important state.  We move a lot of goods in and out of California and through California.  A lot of our people live here so we represent -- we know our corporate responsibility.  You know, it's heavy to the State of California.  As you can see the LA Basin in particular, it's an origin or a destination for a lot of our freight.


Now a lot of our businesses very much truck competitive and that we call intermodal business.  It's trailers and containers on flatcars.  It's a highly hostile business in competing with the trucks and the competitive issues weigh heavily on what our costs are and how we can compete in the marketplace.  You can see most of the intermodal flows really come from the East Coast through Chicago and into the South Coast area with a little bleed off through the Central Valley.


There are a lot of differences because South Coast is really an origin/destination point.  We originate a lot of trains, a lot of trains in there, and we turn the power over in places, like in Los Angeles, we turned around and sent them out.  In comparison, really, the San Joaquin or the Central Valley is really a flow corridor.  We don't start and stop a lot of trains there.  It's stuff that goes through on the way to Richmond, Seattle, to LA, places like that, so it's a lot different, a totally different kind of corridor, because the trains pass through here rather than start and stop there.  And secondly, because it is a flow corridor, we don't have a lot of major yards.  We don't have a Barstow; we don't have a Colton; we don't have a Roseville _______ inside the San Joaquin Valley.  So because of that, we have really limited places where we can take power on, take it off.  It results in a lot of inefficiencies compared to doing it in a place like Barstow where we have a mechanical facility where we maintain locomotives so there's a big difference.


Then, because it doesn't have major railroad yards, it's got all these smaller yards and each of us has about 25, not exactly captive, but more captive, locals and switch engines, that we keep sending back.  They come out of the area to our mechanical facilities, roughly every 92 days, and then we reassign them back into the area.  So they're a little more captive and that's the group that really has the greatest possibility of doing things with economically.  And considering the Central Valley, it's just like a flow-through corridor with all these tentacles.  We've got the I-5 corridor going up to Seattle and it runs down into LA, the stuff in and out of the LA Basin, the southern corridor going off to the Gulf Coast or off to Chicago, and then the Overland corridor, the central corridor, so we have all these tentacles coming in and through the San Joaquin Valley, the Central Valley.  It makes it extremely difficult …(side 4, blank tape until Counter No. 250)… absolutely no plan on not providing the locomotives.  We did go into it.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  I gotcha.


MR. STEHLY:  We went into it for the right reasons. We still want to do it for the right reasons.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  No, no.  I think the logical question for me to ask and the question that people would have in their minds, if it's not asked, is simply, you know, given that it's cheaper to, in essence, move towards the $4 million cap versus converting all the engines to some agreed-upon standard, you know, there's not any sort of pay to, we're-willing-to-pay-to-pollute-type thing and you're saying not at all.


MR. STEHLY:  Not at all.  We have our customers.  We know the pain they're in; we know the pain everybody's in.  We're not going to take a cheap route because of the nature of the penalty.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  I've gotcha.  Is there anything in the agreement that would ensure that you meet the goal and not just pay the cap then?


MR. STEHLY:  Yes.  I may have misspoken and I didn't mean to.  The information that I we provided on the agreement, we provided to the ARB, not to the South Coast, so I may have misspoken when I said that.


On March 28, we submitted it to the ARB and they can submit it to whoever they want.  We did not say it was confidential.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  So that your comment that you don't mind if they look at it or we look at it still applies?


MR. STEHLY:  I'll copy it for you and you can have it now.  We don't have…


SENATOR FLOREZ:  No, no.  I know.  But we wouldn’t want to have a hearing every year for the South Coast.  Is there any reason they couldn't just get it or do you just assume…


MR. STEHLY:  No.  I don't have a big issue about it.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.


MR. STEHLY:  The whole idea with the annual report is so that CARB could look ahead and see how well we're doing on the purchases we're making and make a conclusion to say, yes, we'll make it or, no, we won't, and that was the point of the report.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Yeah.  I've gotcha.  In terms, again, the question on terms of an agreement, on the agreement of the MOU, anything to ensure that you meet your goals in that, it binds you to, other than the penalty?  I mean anything to make sure that you're doing that?


MR. STEHLY:  I think they can drop the -- I mean there's a ways out if we're not going to make it and they've got all, whatever other avenues they can apply against us.  It's really, you know, the idea is so they can see that we're making enough purchases to accomplish it to get to the goal.  That's right.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Let's talk about the valley, the Central Valley MOU, and obviously the reason for the hearing is to see, and you heard Senator Boxer say that may there's some -- it may not be a one-to-one match, I think, as Catherine said.  But the issue of pooling together a Central Valley MOU, obviously for the same reasons that you looked to South Coast ten years ago, you might look at Central Valley and say it's the same.  I think you've made your case about the difference, even in the routing and the changed state ??, all of that, obviously makes this a non-Xerox-based MOU, if you will.  I mean this is not going to be one of those you just go, okay, let's just the name.  Given the Central Valley's predicament, you're aware of it.


Do you have any ideas if the MOU might be accomplished by people sitting at the table, and obviously the people would include the Air District which would be different than in the past when the other MOU was -- your position on that?


MR. STEHLY:  Well, I think, we did an MOU in Houston, okay?  It's not the MOU.  It’s the substance in it, what's it do to competitive balance and the weighing our responsibility to our stockholders and trying to stay in business and the competitive issues.  So I'm sticking my neck out but an MOU that has the right stuff in it is probably doable.  The question is, what's the right stuff for?


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Yes.  And I guess, before you decide to enter into an MOU, even preliminary discussion, I think parties through the Air Board as kind of an arbiter in this thing could probably ferret out what the issues might be and that might allow you to determine whether or not, from a competitive perspective or legal perspective, people need to sit at the table.


Are open to that?  Is that something that right off the bat, you know, the Air Board is not going to participate or that part of the model, as you said, the South Coast Air Quality MOU doesn't apply?  I'm just trying to get the sense of -- obviously, it's hard because, as you said, it's within the content of the MOU and you have obviously again made the case that this is a completely different type of a pass, this is a pass-through area, if you will, and that will definitely, significantly makes some differences from the Air District's perspective as well.


MR. STEHLY:  Right.  Well, first of all, in the MOU, I mean it's voluntary, okay?  We're agreeing to these.  They need to be creditable under a SIP ?? or else nobody gets any benefit from it.  Other people still have to come up with more reductions.  So in some ways, both the EPA and the ARB have to agree that the results, the improvements are creditable so that's a big deal.


Are we concerned that the local Air District is at the table?  And a lot depends on attitudes.  Is there a sense we can get the yes?  Is there ever going to be a yes or is it always just going to be we've never done enough?  If we're never going to do enough and we lose our competitive position, you know, then we don't see that there's a lot to be gained.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Have you ever met a nice Air Board, from Houston to South Coast, or even the Central Valley?  I mean obviously they're under pressure, you know, to make some significant reductions.  You have competitive pressures that I’m very sensitive to as well, to give you my perspective.  I think those are absolutely important.


Senator Boxer talked about the health crisis, talked about the issues of reducing quite possibly seven tons per day if you looked at the San Joaquin Valley Pollution Control letter and the fact that eight out of nine control measures that we have in place for stationary sources have been set.  There are no more, as been said, low-hanging fruit. This is the tough stuff.  So I would guess that, how do you even get to that conclusion?  You'd be willing to talk if they were reasonable, I think, is what you're probably saying or nice.  I don’t know.  I don't know what term to use.


MR. STEHLY:  I mean they have a very difficult job to do.  I wouldn't want to be in their shoes.  I mean you look at what they're faced with and it might be beyond my abilities to deal with.  I mean it's extremely difficult but yet there still has to be a yes and we've gone into it voluntarily in two different cases.  I mean show me other people that are voluntarily mobile sources, voluntarily stepping up to do this, and so I think it's doable.  But we need to find some reasonable accommodation that doesn't severely hurt us in the marketplace or air quality doesn't benefit.  There'll just be more trucks on the highway and the truck number goes higher instead of lower.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  I guess I'm trying to get you say it would be okay for the Air District to participate because I'm just a…


MR. STEHLY:  I don't know the Air District well enough and I would like to have them at the table.  I think it's beneficial.  I can't commit.  I would like them to be there.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Maybe, Mark, we can get together and just have lunch or something.  I don't know how it works.  You get to know them and see if they're reasonable, leave all the mean people back.  We'll leave Dave and others.  We’ll bring Mark.


MR. STEHLY:  Being mean and being reasonable are not mutually exclusive either.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  I'm just saying I appreciate the willingness to consider that and very much appreciate that and I think I would want to pursue that with you even further.  I think you're right.  Many mobile sources, given the actions, even the tough actions the ARB are taking with some of our trucking friends.  I mean it's very difficult, very high pressured, very volatile issues.  Obviously, we're sitting here somewhat civilly talking about it and I appreciate that, but it doesn't mean we're going to continue to push you and I think that's kind of where we want to go and I think that's what I'd like to do.


Just a couple of more questions in terms of the Carl Moyer program.  Let's just talk funding for a moment.  I think you heard me say earlier that there are monies available.  You may have heard that Assemblymember Pavley and I at some point in time are very interested in putting together a clean air bond for California that would have significant amounts of money for a Carl Moyer program that would go beyond some of the current funding sources for that.


Would that be of interest and would that be helpful obviously in terms of allowing the timeframe for these to move quicker?  South Coast talked about the ability to change out, and the Air Board did as well, about moving an accelerated process forward.  Would that be something you would look favorably to, not favorably to?


MR. STEHLY:  It does apply to us and we have studied it but it really only, it pays for the incremental costs of what we would otherwise buy.  The reality is, for our locomotive fleet right now, is that we have a lot of these locomotives that are very usable and they're sitting there in use every day to day and they are not obsolete, and the problem is this agreement would make them obsolete and we would have to throw away a perfectly good locomotive.  And Carl Moyer does not compensate you for throwing away a perfectly good locomotive and that's the crux of it.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  I think that, as we formulate, obviously this is not going to be the year for a bond, given the budget issue and our Appropriation chairs have said that quite clearly, but things change in the next four weeks as we get back and even next year we would very much like to engage in discussions with what would be an effective program.  If we don't call it Carl Moyer, it's something different.  I think we would very much like to see if there's some incremental things that make sense with it, within the industry that you're in.  Maybe it's not that particular but we would like to have discussions with you folks to see if that's possible.


MR. STEHLY:  Senator, we just got through completing a successful contract agreement with the Sacramento Air Quality Management District that allowed us to purchase what we call Smart Start.  That's that software package that automatically shuts down the locomotives.  We purchased 21 of these systems and it's going to bring about 25 tons per year of reductions in NOx to the Sacramento area, so there are other strategies we can use.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  That's all the questions I have.


Senator Denham, do you have any questions?


SENATOR JEFF DENHAM:  Just one final question to address Senator Florez's comment on the bonds.  We're already at over $100 billion in bond indebtedness; we've go a very difficult fiscal crisis ahead of us.


Are there other ways that you can be incentivized to move forward and decrease the amount of pollution here in the Central Valley, tax incentives or other creative ideas that would help?


MR. STEHLY:  None just jump off the table to come to mind.  We'll give it some thought.  Certainly tax incentives, we do pay a considerable amount in income tax in the state and sales tax on fuel and there may be some things there.  Unfortunately, I think for every dollar you send their way, it's a dollar less that goes to other programs and so it may help us create incentives but it hurts you some other ways.  We'll give it some thought but it's just…


SENATOR DENHAM:  I don’t want to get in a position where you've been over-regulated and that over-regulation not only decreases the amount of transportation that we see in this state but also decreases the amount of employment that we have.  And if you have less employment, you…

MR. MICHAEL HART ??:  …(side 5, blank tape until Counter No. 94)… system which is now enabled because you don't have the sulfur contamination which you would in ordinary diesel fuel.  USCR ?? is enabled basically.  You can then see 90, 95 percent reduction in the NOx contamination.  So it's a one-two punch.  It's extremely effective and very inexpensive.  We're talking about a couple $100,000 in engine for the complete modification.


In any case, we have been working on this for a number of years.  The problem has been, okay, so we proved the system.  We say, all right, this works.  How are we going to get the rest of the railroad industry to adopt these changes voluntarily?  I do not believe in regulation; I do not believe in additional regulation of the railroad industry.


So how are you going to convince these railroaders to do this?  I'm the Vice-President of the California Short-Line Railroad Association and Director there and I can tell you, that as an association, we have a large investment made in our railroads and in our equipment and people aren't going to be making experimental changes on their locomotives without some sort of demonstration that's been done and it's safe.  So we proposed a plan to the State of California in 2001 to do our modifications to a fleet of locomotives, do the testing on them, and prove that bio-diesel, combined with SCR, can accomplish these 90-95 percent reductions which we believe can be done.  It's been found in other industries.  There's no reason it couldn't work here.


The happy coincidence of doing this, is that by putting 48 locomotives together to do this testing, which is what you need -- you need a large number of engines running for a set period of time connected to sensitive monitoring equipment to find out whether there's a reduction in horsepower -- are you getting the reductions in emissions you want?  You coincidentally produced 100 megawatts of electricity.  So when the state was having power difficulties in 2001, we proved that this technique would not only give the state 100 megawatts of very inexpensive power but it also would have jump started the bio-diesel industry in the State of California.

With tremendous support we've received, I've go a small stack, about six inches tall, of letters of intent and various contracts in the State of California, none of which have been enacted by the state.  We are currently on hold with the State Power Authority, still waiting for us to do this project.


We've spent millions of dollars as a small company privately buying a fleet of engines and storing them at McClellan Air Force Base, which we also operate the rail facilities there.  But quite frankly, if the state had simply done what they have said in their early contracts, we would already know if this methodology works.  You would have the best available control technology today towards making those changes.


I'd like to point out that it's a good time to focus on how railroads can reduce emissions in California.  I think it's a very bad time to create new regulations.  I believe it's a very bad mistake, as has been pointed out earlier.  Small railroads in particular are under tremendous financial difficulty.  They have enormous challenges maintaining their infrastructure, well, their competition to trucks, operate ?? heavily subsidized public roads.  Any added requirements could push many of the small railroads over the edge and they would be unable to continue to operate which would have the opposite effect of what you're trying to accomplish.  It would push that freight off to trucks.


I have a number of other written comments which, with a technical backup, which I'll provide you.  But I think Senator Denham asked the question, and that is, what else could be done to try and accomplish this?  There are actually a number of ways this could be accomplished using very innovative financial means.  For example, locomotive, typical locomotive in operation is generating about 40 tons of NOx right now.  Under the Carl Moyer program, the numbers that are conventionally kicked around is about $15,000 per ton.  That's at least in the last set of numbers I was given by the San Joaquin Air Pollution Control District.  There's an enormous amount of money available by offset technology for making these retrofits profitably for the railroads.  The problem is, is the public needs to step up to the plate; specifically, the State of California should take a leadership role for other states.  This problem isn't unique to California.  It's nationwide.  California traditionally has a leadership role by doing this testing, proving that it can work.  There are the financial incentives already in place just to the free market for the railroads nationwide to make these changes but California needs to take the first step.


I'll answer questions you might have.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Just one question in terms of short lines.  Same EPA standards -- you're held the same EPA standards?


MR. HART:  To the best of my knowledge, the current short line…


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Class I, freight?


MR. HART:  Yes.  The current Class 3, which is the short-line railroads, over 95 percent of their fleet are exempt from the EPA requirements because they're used locomotives.  I don't know many -- in fact, I don't know of any short-line railroad that can afford to buy a new $1.5 million locomotive that satisfies those EPA requirements.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Gotcha.  So from a short-line perspective, that's not…


MR. HART:  It's just not feasible.  Now using the Carl Moyer program, if the language had been corrected -- the language right now, it's essentially making the Carl Moyer program useless for a short-line railroad.  There's only been two programs that I'm aware of that have actually done anything at all and they were basically not very successful demonstration projects, but the language is such that it's awkward.  If I have a locomotive that's good for another 30 years, where's my incentive to change to a different locomotive?  Why would I step up to a $1.5 million piece of equipment even though it reduces the emissions?


Carl Moyer, they recognize the savings at $15,000 per ton in savings.  It could afford a new locomotive over the life of the locomotive, but the language as currently written doesn't allow for that and I've actually had a law firm that's researched it and we've come back with a number of proposed changes we'd be happy to suggest that would make it more effective.  We would like to work with you on that, definitely.


Thank you very much.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you.


Let's go to Felix Lopez, Operation Clean Air, Transportation Committee.


Thank you for joining us.


MR. FELIX LOPEZ:  Thank you, Senator Florez.  I just have a one-and-a-half minute statement.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Sure.


MR. LOPEZ:  The purpose of my presentation is to talk about some of the issues going on locally in the San Joaquin Valley and discuss why attention to rail is important.  I am part of Operation Clean Air, specifically, the transportation group.  The goal of our group is public education, awareness, and focusing on business solutions for on-road emitters in the San Joaquin Valley, specifically diesel trucks and vehicles.  But we also feel in our committee meetings, there's also the issue of rail -- let's take a look at rail.  There is a bit of a disconnect in terms of public information and public education on some of the changes going on.  I'm taking it upon myself with the group to bring back the information to the Transportation Committee.


We're broken up into the ag sector building, non-profit government, muni, education, petroleum, local pollution districts, utilities, and transportation.  A good example of some of the challenges as it relates to our members, though, is one of our members owns a trucking firm.  We found that, for example, for him to retrofit his engine, it's about $7,000 to $8,000 to $10,000 per engine.  And at 50 trucks, you can imagine, a bird-in-a-pond business owner.


So basically what we're here to do is to encourage and support your efforts in passing some of the bills you have in terms of incentives.  For example, the Air Bond, we feel that…


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Only the incentive bills?


MR. LOPEZ:  Only incentive.  We understand that there is the issue of the regulatory aspect, but we want to make sure that our voices are heard in terms of what's going on locally and that was the purpose of my presentation.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  In terms of the Transportation Committee, you mentioned that locomotive emissions is now being talked about more or less?


MR. LOPEZ:  It is being talked about more.  When we first met, we were focusing mainly on on-road but we did realize that off-road was a somewhat unregulated field that needed local attention from the public awareness and education point of view so we did break out a subcommittee to cover off-road rail.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Is there any thought of when the subcommittee will come up with the recommendations -- consolidation issues, rail, in general, how the train set works, if you will?


MR. LOPEZ:  Our purpose is to make recommendations to the staff of Operation Clean Air.  We do plan to take a look at intermodal; we plan to take a look at recommendations for incentives and then provide these to executive staff.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Great.  Thank you very much.  Appreciate your time.


Tim Carmichael -- thank you for joining us -- Coalition for Clean Air.


MR. TIM CARMICHAEL:  Good afternoon, Senator Florez.


Let me start with a thank for your leadership on air pollution issues this year.  All of our members and, really, the State of California, appreciates your leadership.  Thank you.


Just a couple of things that I want to say at the outset.  It was stated earlier, I believe, but it's important to emphasize the scale of the shortfall in the plan for the San Joaquin Valley is 300 tons per day of pollution.  We're in 2003.  We're looking at attainment in 2010.  We really are in an urgent situation if we're going to be serious about meeting federal health-based air quality standards.


We don’t have the luxury of choosing who to regulate and not regulate and we may have had that luxury in the past.  But under these circumstances, we no longer have that luxury.  And if we don't relate or get further reductions from the railroad industry, as was stated earlier, it's going to come out of someone else's hide.  And we need to be fair in putting the burden, spread the burden among those that are contributing to the problem.


You know, it was suggested earlier that technology is somehow the hurdle here.  We fundamentally disagree with that.  It is not a situation where we don't know what to do.  Yes, there, have been technologies that have been tested and haven't delivered up to expectation, but there is absolutely the ability to use low-sulfur diesel in this industry and to use retrofit technologies.  There's also the very real prospect of using a bio-diesel alternative that does warrant further testing and evaluation.


But the reality is, in the seven years that we've been working on these issues, and we were very similar to the South Coast, trying to get a seat at the table, trying to get access to the MOU negotiations in the South Coast and we were shut out.  The reality is, there's been a lack of political will in controlling this industry by the federal government and by the state government, not a lack of technology or knowing what to do.


I think it's also important because the industry raised it to emphasize the corporate responsibility role.  You know, the industry is effective in moving goods and that's why they are so widely used.  And, yes, I would agree with the chart that was shown that, you know, on a cost per mile or a pollution per mile, there's a lot of benefit to using rail but they're not clean.  And to suggest that they're clean or to suggest that they're doing everything that they could be doing to reduce pollution is misstating the facts.


Okay.  Onto the most important thing, question, is what can we do, and we have a few suggestions.


Today, California is not doing all it could be doing, even at the state level where we have not complete control but some control over this industry.  Today, even under the recently approved plan for low-sulfur diesel in California, we are going to allow under the current proposal the continued sale of high-sulfur diesel in California.  It may only represent 5 percent of the sales volume in California but the question is:  Why allow any of that high-sulfur diesel to be sold in California?  That's something that we can stop.  The Air Resources Board can stop that.  They have authority to do that.  If they don't act on it, the legislature should step in and say, you know, it's no longer appropriate to sell high-sulfur diesel in the State of California.


We could do more with switcher locomotives, not just in the South Coast but everywhere that they're being used in the State of California.  There was considerable talk about Barstow but very little talk about Roseville as another hub for the railroad industry.  That is another focus point that could be a major switching point to cleaner locomotives in the State of California.


I encourage you, as you continue to pursue this, what can be done for the San Joaquin, it may be that the better strategy is what can be done for California statewide and an MOU for the state as a whole as opposed to an MOU for the San Joaquin alone.


That said, I think it's important for us to emphasize that we don’t think that the MOU in the South Coast went far enough.  We do agree with the South Coast AQMD that more could have been done and that the industry could be put -- I'm not taking away from the money or the time that they put into investigating clean technologies or the 5 million that they're putting into retrofit research.  Those are steps in the right direction but it is absolutely not all that needs to be done or could be done by this industry.  They have not yet made air pollution reduction a priority and this industry needs to make it a priority to do their fair share.


One other thing which will not be as popular as a suggestion, but it is something that we must consider as a state, is a fee on goods moved in the State of California.  You know, I heard the arguments very clearly from the railroad industry:  If you only put the fee or you only try and regulate us, you're going to shift more goods to trucking and will that really benefit air quality in California?  I think that's a very valid argument.


What I’m suggesting that we look at is a fee per ton of goods moved, whether it's by air, by ship, by rail, and it should be scaled based on the emissions contribution of that vehicle, whether it's a locomotive, a ship, or a truck.  In that way, provide an indirect incentive, maybe a disincentive -- for either an incentive to operate the cleanest available technology or a disincentive to operate dirty technologies, dirty equipment in California.  We have to accelerate the turnover more than is currently happening.  We're looking at a seven-, maximum ten-year timeframe to do that.


I think I've covered all the bases I wanted to cover.  Again, thank you for your leadership on this issue.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Tim, just a couple of questions.


In terms of the -- you may have heard of the discussion from our railroad industry and others that the current efforts, as compared to other mobile sources, just your thoughts on that, railroads doing more than maybe some of our truckers and truckers doing more than maybe of our SUV owners in California.

I mean from a mobile source perspective, how do you get a perspective on that?


MR. CARMICHAEL:  I would say that the most accurate statement is no transportation sector is doing enough.  You know, if you look at the emissions reduction in vehicle technology, the greatest progress in the last 30 years has been in the passenger vehicle fleet but that in fact has been offset dramatically in the '90s by the rise of SUV popularity now representing 50 percent of sales in California.  So even where the technology has advanced because of the vehicle population growth and the vehicle miles traveled growth, we haven't made the progress we needed to with passenger vehicles.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  I've gotcha.  And in terms of the last question I have for you, in terms of the CARB issue, you may have heard me talk about progress, moving toward mandating CARB ??, particularly for railroads, your thoughts on that, the fuel?


MR. CARMICHAEL:   I think it's true what was said, that we need to be conscious of the possibility that the railroads will choose to carry more fuel with them and purchase fuel out of state.  What I come back to is, let's control what we can now, and what we know we can control is stopping the sale of the dirty fuel in California.  We can't stop them from buying fuel in other states.  At least my reading of the law, we can't stop them today from doing that.  We can stop the sale of dirty fuel in California and we should stop the sale of dirty fuel in California.


We should also get to the table, as you've been talking about all afternoon, with the railroads, with the Air Resources Board, and the air districts, not just the San Joaquin, as I mentioned a moment ago, talking about what more can be done, in addition to shifting the fuel, what can we do about retrofits, accelerating the deployment of retrofit technologies on all locomotives used in California.


You know, one more tangent off of that, the map that the railroad industry showed shows that many of the locomotives passing through California pass through the Western United States.  California has led time and time again on air pollution issues.  The fallout or the problem created by us pushing the railroad industry in California is that other states neighboring us will get cleaner locomotives sooner, that's a good thing for the people breathing the air.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Gotcha.  Gentlemen, thank you.  Thank you very much.


There is time for public comment, if there is public comment.  Anyone?  Yes.


Thank you for joining us.


MR. LARRY ROBINSON:  Good afternoon, Senator.  My name is Larry Robinson.  I'm with the Sacramento Metropolitan Air Quality Management District.  I'd like to parrot a lot of the comments made by Mr. Boese from the San Joaquin District.


In Sacramento, we're suffering from a severe air quality problem as well, in fact, throughout the entire, what they call the Sacramento Federal Non-Attainment Region.  That includes Sacramento County, Yolo County, and parts of Solano, Placer, El Dorado, and Sutter Counties.

The big problem for us is we have an attainment date of 2005.  The good news is we're close.  The bad news is we're close.  So frankly, anything we can do in the area of locomotives might just make the difference for Sacramento meeting its federal non-attainment goal, beyond, of course, the fact that it might also assist in those who have difficulty breathing because, after all, it is a health-based standard we're talking about.

In the Sacramento region, we're talking about an inventory from locomotives of about ten tons per day.  If we can just achieve a four-to-five ton per-day reduction, that could make all the difference in the world for Sacramento.  So if there is going to be an MOU and there's going to be a table to sit at to discuss the terms of this MOU, we hope will be included.

Thank you very much.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you.

Anybody else for public comment?

After this, I think we will adjourn so most of us can get to our planes.  Thank you for joining us.

MR. TOM DALEY:  I don't know if it's good or bad to be the last but so be it.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  It depends how long you are when you speak.  (Laughter)

MR. DALEY:  I'll be very short.  I'm Tom Daley.  I’m President of Fresno Area Residents for Rail Consolidation.

First and foremost, I want to commend you and Senator Boxer for bringing this problem to the forefront.  I can't tell you how many phone calls and e-mails our organization received after the article about your co-authored letter appeared in the Bee.  It's a big concern to people in the valley.  We're looking for any and everything we can do to reduce our air quality problems.

Rail consolidation is something that's going to help do that.  When we bring that about, what's it going to do for air quality?  The big thing is it's going to stop the 90,000 cars a day that sit there idling, but it's also going to help because it's going to slow up the railroad emissions.

Fresno's a unique situation where the Union Pacific and the BNSF literally cross.  There's a diamond crossing in ____.  And any time you go anywhere near that crossing, you can look north, south, east, and west, and chances are you'll see a train sitting in all four directions.  You've got to wait until they cross.  Guess what they do while they sit and wait?  They idle.

Got the same thing on the north end of town on the BNSF.  You have a siting there.  It's the only major siting in Fresno, the Fig Garden siting.  It's about 9,000 feet long.  You can go up there any time of the day and you'll see an engine sitting there.  I've observed one on Saturday that sat there for an hour and 45 minutes.  He waited for a northbound Amtrak and two southbound intermodals, even to the point where the engineer advanced the train about 150 yards so he could get off out of the front end and walk across to a delicatessen and get himself some lunch.  It'll eliminate that.

We don't know what that will add or subtract from the 5 percent that we know locomotives contribute but we know it will be something.  We're in the process of studying that.  We got a grant from Valley Clean Air now to look at the air quality results from rail consolidation.  We're working with the Center for Advanced Research Technology which is a high-tech high school in Fresno and they're going to be doing some monitoring for us and we're going to try to determine how much these idling engines emit.

So we again commend you for your initiative and we look forward to working with you.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you very much.  See you back home.

With that, I do want to thank everybody who traveled here a great distance.  We very much appreciate it.  There will be a transcript and a public record of this.  We will also get out to most of you a letter of what we thought transpired here and try to get some action items and try to get to work as we come back.

My guess is that we will probably come back to the legislative session to take care of our bills in the last four weeks.  But after that session, we'll probably start to get to work and prepare for the next set of hearings and the next set of actions that …(end of tape)…
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